S213137

No. (Court of Appeal No. D061720) (San Diego County Super. Ct. No. 37-2011-00087958-CU-MC-CTL)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

SEP -4 2013

CAROL COKER,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

(CRC) (8.25(b))

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

v.

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., for itself and as a successor in interest to CHASE HOME FINANCE LLC,

Defendants and Respondents.

Appeal From Judgment And Order Of The Superior Court For The County Of San Diego (Hon. Luis R. Vargas, Presiding)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ARNOLD & PORTER LLC
PETER OBSTLER (No. 171623)
peter.obstler@aporter.com
Three Embarcadero Center, 10th Floor
San Francisco, California 94111-4024

ISSUES PRESENTED

- (1) Does Civil Code of Procedure section 580b apply after a creditor releases its security, at the borrower's request, to facilitate the borrower's short sale?
- (2) Does a borrower's request and acquiescence in a creditor's destruction of its security in connection with a short sale constitute a waiver of rights and defenses by the borrower under Civil Code of Procedure section 726?

INTRODUCTION

This Petition seeks review of issues that "no California [appellate] court has specifically addressed," until now: Do sections 580b and 726's anti-deficiency protections apply to transactions in which the creditor, at the borrower's request, agrees to release its security in property and re-convey the deed of trust to the borrower so that the borrower can sell the property for less that the outstanding balance on the loan?

In the decision below, the Court of Appeal held for the first time that section 580b's anti-deficiency rules apply to short sales¹ of purchase money loans. *Coker v. JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A.*, 218 Cal. App. 4th 1, 16 (2013). To reach that result, the court found that: (1) when a loan is obtained for the purpose of purchasing real property (a "purchase money loan"), section 580b's anti-deficiency protections apply in connection with any sale of the real property, including short sales, and (2) a borrower's request that a creditor release its

¹ A short sale occurs when property is sold for less than the amount of the outstanding balance on the loan secured by the property. To accomplish a short sale, the borrower seeks the lender's permission to sell the property directly to a third party for an amount less than the outstanding balance on the loan. If the lender agrees, the lender releases its security interest and reconveys the deed to the borrower. *See, e.g., Bank of Am., N.A. v. Roberts*, 217 Cal. App. 4th 1386, 1398 (2013).

security interest in order to proceed with a short sale does not waive the provisions of the "security first rule" under section 726. *Id.* at 12-15. The court concluded that because borrowers cannot waive the protections of section 580b by contract, an agreement to remain responsible for any deficiency balance remaining on the loan after the short sale is legally unenforceable. *Id.* at 16.

The decision below conflicts in two respects with prior appellate decisions concerning the applicability of California's anti-deficiency protections following the sale of property. Both of these conflicts warrant review by this Court.

First, the Court of Appeal ignored the status of Chase's security interest at the time of the short sale. *Id.* at 11-12. Prior decisions have held that when a borrower asks a creditor to reconvey the deed of trust so that the property may be sold to avoid foreclosure, section 580b's protections do not apply. See, e.g., Jack Erickson & Assocs. v. Hesselgesser, 50 Cal. App. 4th 182, 188-89 (1996) ("Appellant, by his conduct, waived the protection of section 580b . . . when he induced respondent to execute a deed of reconveyance and sold the property."); see also DeBerard Props., Ltd. v. Lim, 20 Cal. 4th 659, 663 (1999) (creditor that wishes to pursue borrowers for the full balance of the loan may avoid section 580b by destroying the creditor's security interest). That rule applies in this case because, for purposes of the appeal, the court found that Coker affirmatively requested that Chase destroy its security interest and reconvey the deed of trust to her so that she could proceed with a sale of the property. Coker, 218 Cal. App. 4th at 6. Nevertheless, the court found that section 580b's protections apply following the short sale. *Id.* at 12-13. Moreover, the Court did not explain how the short sale that Coker participated in differs from the transaction in Jack Erickson. This uncertainty about what actions will result in a waiver of section 580b's protection should be resolved so that

borrowers and creditors have guidance about when a waiver of section 580b occurs.

Second, the decision below also conflicts with the Fifth Appellate District's decision in Bank of America, N.A. v. Roberts, 217 Cal. App. 4th 1386 (2013) where the court held that where a creditor agrees to the borrower's request to proceed with a short sale, and as a result releases "its lien so the [short] sale of real property could take place," the borrower "waived any rights she may have had under [section 726.]" Id. at 1398 (emphasis in original).2 Following this Court's decision in Security Pacific National Bank v. Wozab. 51 Cal. 3d 991 (1990), the court reasoned that the creditor's release of its security in the property to effectuate the completion of the sale transformed a secured loan into an unsecured one. *Roberts*, 217 Cal. App. 4th at 1398. Thus, contrary to Coker, Roberts found that because the transaction required the creditor to release and destroy its security "so that the sale could take place," the borrower's agreed-upon obligation for the deficiency was enforceable under section 726. *Id.* at 1397-98; but cf. Coker, 218 Cal. App. 4th at 15.

Resolving these conflicts is important, with far reaching economic and practical implications. Over 200,000 short sales occurred within California in 2009 and 2010 as short sales have gained popularity as an alternative to foreclosure. See Senate Banking and Financial Institutions Committee Analysis of SB 412, hearing dated April 6, 2011.³ To further these sales, creditors commonly required borrowers to agree

² A Petition for Review of the *Roberts* opinion has been filed with this Court and has been assigned the docket number S213011.

³ Clarifying Scope of SB 931: Hearing on SB 412 before Senate Banking and Fin. Inst. Comm. (2011). Available at http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/11-12/bill/sen/sb_04010450/sb_412_cfa_20110405_150830_sen_comm.html.

to remain personally liable for deficiencies as a condition of their approval of the sale. See, e.g., Senate Rules Committee, SB 931, as amended June 1, 2010.⁴ Therefore, for a large percentage of the more than 200,000 borrowers who participated in short sales prior to the enactment of section 580e⁵, having certainty regarding whether they are bound to their agreements to remain responsible for their outstanding debt will have direct and significant implications.

Lower courts also need guidance on these issues to resolve a plethora of individual and class actions in both the state and federal courts regarding the legal status of deficiencies on short sales. See, e.g., Lawyers Title Ins. Corp. v. Dedmore, California Court of Appeal, First District, Case Nos. A126422, A136676; Banks v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Superior Court, County of Alameda, Case No. RG-12614875; Rex v. Chase Home Finance, U.S. District Court, C.D. Cal., Case No. SACV 12-0609; Rahoi v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., U.S. District Court, N.D. Cal., Case No. CV 12-03756-LHK; Assembly Committee on Judiciary, hearing dated June 29, 2010⁶ (finding that clarity regarding liability for deficiencies

⁴ Mortgage: Deficiency Judgments: Hearing on SB 901 before Senate Rules Comm. (2010). Available at http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/09-10/bill/sen/sb_0901-0950/sb_931_cfa_20100817_204742_sen_floor.html.

⁵ Civil Code of Procedure section 580e became effective on July 11, 2011. This statute extends the anti-deficiency protections to all short sale transactions regardless of the nature of the loan or the facts surrounding the transaction. However, section 580e does not apply to short sales that occurred prior to its effective date. *See Roberts*, 217 Cal. App. 4th at 1395; *see also Espinoza v. Bank of Am., N.A.*, 823 F. Supp. 2d 1053, 1058 (S.D. Cal. 2011) (holding section 580e is not retroactive).

⁶ Mortgage: Deficiency Judgment: Hearing on SB 931 before Assembly Comm. on Judiciary (2010). Available at http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/09-10/bill/sen/sb_0901-0950/sb_931_cfa_20100628_112930_asm_comm.html.

following short sales is needed to address potential litigation against real estate professionals who may not have warned clients about the risk of ongoing liability following short sales). The Court should provide these courts with guidance on whether sections 580b and 726 apply to short sales.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In order to purchase real property, Carol Coker obtained a \$452,000 loan memorialized by a promissory note. *Coker*, 218 Cal. App. 4th at 6. The note was secured by a deed of trust recorded against the property. *Id.* After the loan was originated, the original lender went defunct and Chase Home Finance, LLC acquired the loan. *Id.* JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. ("Chase") is the successor in interest to Chase Home Finance. *Id.*

Like hundreds of thousands of other Californians, in late 2009, Coker began to experience financial difficulties and stopped paying on her loan. *Id.*; see also Clerk's Transcript ("CT") 145. Eventually, a notice of default and election to sell under the deed of trust was recorded, thereby initiating a non-judicial foreclosure on the property. *Coker*, 218 Cal. App. 4th at 6.

Before Chase could complete the foreclosure process, Coker negotiated a sale of the property whereby she agreed to sell the property for less than the outstanding balance that she owed to Chase. *Id.* Because this type of sale results in the seller paying less than what is owed on the loans secured by the property, this type of sale is commonly referred to as a short sale. *Id.* Under the terms of the agreement between Coker and the third party buyer, Coker was required to obtain Chase's agreement to release its security interest in the property so that the short sale could proceed. *Id.*; see also CT at 46, 197 (short sale agreement conditioned on Chase's agreement to release its lien). Coker therefore contacted

Chase and requested that Chase release its security interest so that the short sale could proceed. *Id*.

In granting conditional approval for the short sale, Chase acknowledged that the short sale agreement between Coker and the buyer required that the property be lien free at the time of the sale's closing. CT at 46. Chase further stated that as a condition for its release of its security interest, Coker had to agree to be responsible for any deficiency balance remaining on the loan after application of the short sale proceeds. *Id.*; see also Coker, 218 Cal. App. 4th at 6. Coker accepted these conditions and proceeded with the short sale. Coker, 218 Cal. App. 4th at 6.

After the short sale closed, Coker received a letter demanding payment of the unsatisfied portion of the loan. *Id.* In response, Coker filed a complaint for declaratory relief. *Id.* at 7. Chase's demurrer was sustained without leave to amend. *Id.* The court subsequently entered judgment, dismissing the first amended complaint with prejudice as to Chase. *Id.* Coker timely appealed. *Id.*

On appeal, the Court of Appeal held that section 580b applies "after any sale, not just a foreclosure" of a purchase money loan, including short sales. *Id.* at 11-12. The court dismissed Chase's argument that "580b does not apply when a borrower acquiesces in a lender's relinquishment of its security interest." *Id.* at 13. With respect to section 726, the court held that absent the commencement of a judicial action a borrower cannot waive section 726's protection and that section 726 is irrelevant to the issues presented by this case because the sale of the property was not dependent on a section 726 action. *Id.* at 14-15.

REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

I.

REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO CLARIFY HOW AND WHEN CALIFORNIA'S ANTI-DEFICIENCY LAWS WILL APPLY WHEN A BORROWER AFFIRMATIVELY REQUESTS HER CREDITOR DESTROY ITS SECURITY.

The Court of Appeal's holdings that section 580b applies and section 726 does not apply when a borrower affirmatively requests her creditor release its security interest in order to accommodate a short sale transaction conflicts with prior appellate decisions and therefore review is necessary to secure uniformity of decisions. Further, given the importance of clarity with respect to California's anti-deficiency statutes for hundreds of thousands of borrowers, as well as their creditors, review should be granted to settle the important issues raised in this case.

A. Issue One: Under What Circumstances, If Any, Will A Borrower's Promise To Remain Liable For Any Deficiency In Exchange For Her Creditor's Agreement To Acquiesce To A Short Sale Be Enforceable Under Section 580b?

Section 580b provides that a creditor may not obtain personal judgments against a borrower for any outstanding amounts owed on a loan (referred to as the deficiency) after the sale of a property secured by a "purchase money loan." Brown v. Jensen, 41 Cal. 2d 193, 198-99 (1953); DeBerard Props., Ltd., 20 Cal. 4th at 664. For purposes of section 580b, the defining feature of a "purchase money loan" is that the property securing the loan is the same property that the loan funds were used to purchase. Roseleaf Corp. v. Chierighino, 59 Cal. 2d 35, 41 (1963).

In the decision below, the Court of Appeal found that section 580b's anti-deficiency protections apply following any sale of property acquired by a purchase money loan, including short sales. *Coker*, 218 Cal. App. 4th at 12-13. In reaching this decision, the Court concluded that "section 580b does not address a specific mode of sale. Instead, it focuses on a particular type of loan: the purchase money loan." *Id.* at 11. Therefore, under the Court's reasoning, once a purchase money loan has been made, section 580b will apply to any sale of the property acquired with the proceeds of the loan. *Id.* at 13.

This holding is at odds with previous appellate decisions that have found that section 580b does not apply when a creditor's security interest is destroyed prior to the sale of the property even when it was originally acquired through a purchase money loan. See, e.g., Jack Erickson & Assoc., 50 Cal. App. 4th at 188-89 (580b inapplicable after borrower asked creditor to execute a deed of reconveyance and sold the secured property); see also DeBerard Props., Ltd., 20 Cal. 4th at 663 (creditor who does not want to be restricted to the proceeds obtainable through the exhaustion of the security may avoid this result by destroying the security); In re Prestige Ltd. P'ship-Concord, 234 F.3d 1100, 1117-18 (2000) (580b does not apply when the security interest has been lost due to a violation of section 726).

For instance, in *Jack Erickson*, the borrower obtained a purchase money loan secured by a property that the borrower hoped to develop as an investment. *Jack Erickson & Assoc.*, 50 Cal. App. 4th at 184. The borrower ran into financial difficulties and, on the eve of foreclosure, asked the creditor to release its lien in exchange for a guarantee that the borrower would be personally responsible for the outstanding balance on the loan. *Id.* The creditor agreed to the sale and released its lien. *Id.* The creditor then proceeded to obtain a personal judgment against the borrower for the outstanding loan balance. *Id.*

On appeal, the borrower argued that because of the purchase money nature of the loan, section 580b barred the award of a personal judgment. *Id.* at 185. The Court of Appeal dismissed this argument, finding that the borrower had waived the protection of section 580b when the borrower "induced the [creditor] to execute a deed of reconveyance and sold the property." *Id.* at 189. The court reasoned that by leaving the creditor without a security interest, the borrower through his actions had transformed the note to an unsecured purchase money note, which was not subject to section 580b. *Id.* The argument that the borrower "could extinguish the security interest, sell the property to a third party, and invoke section 580b to shift the loss of the ill-fated project" to the creditor was expressly rejected by the court. *Id.*

underlying concept behind Jack Erickson straightforward: when a borrower requests that the creditor destroy the security in the loan, "demanding reconveyance of the security and then demanding that the creditor resort to the security . . . [is] mutually inconsistent." Sec. Pac. Nat'l Bank v. Wozab, 51 Cal. 3d 991, 1005 (1990); see also DeBerard Props., Ltd., 20 Cal. 4th at 663 (creditor who does not want to be restricted to the proceeds obtainable through the exhaustion of the security may avoid this result by destroying the security). This concept has been adopted by other courts which have held that once a borrower takes steps to destroy the creditor's security interest, the borrower can no longer limit her creditor to the security to satisfy the outstanding debt. For instance, in Goodyear v. Mack, 159 Cal. App. 3d 654 (1984), the Court found that the borrowers destroyed the creditor's security interest, thereby losing the protection of section 580b, when they sought a reconveyance of the deed of trust in exchange for providing the creditor with new security. Id. at 659, disapproved on other grounds by DeBerard, 20 Cal. 4th at 671.

Likewise, in *Rahoi v. Chase*, Case No. 12-CV-03756-LHK, slip op. (N.D. Cal. June 6, 2013), Judge Koh, after conducting a thorough analysis of the relevant California law, held that in requesting a short sale, the borrowers "arguably destroyed" the secured purchase money nature of the loan and therefore lost the protection of section 580b. *Rahoi*, slip op. at 23. While ultimately section 580b was found to apply under the particular circumstances of the short sale in *Rahoi*, (see id. at 23-24), under *Rahoi*'s reasoning, the same would not necessarily be true for the short sale at issue here.

Based on the current confusion in the various decisions regarding the impact of the destruction of the security at a borrower's request on the availability of section 580b's protections, the Court should grant review to clarify when and how a borrower's request that her creditor release its security to facilitate a short sale will result in the loss of section 580b's anti-deficiency protections.

B. Issue Two: Does A Borrower Who Asks Her Creditor To Release Its Security Interest Waive Her Rights Under Section 726?

In Coker, the Court of Appeal limited a borrower's waiver of rights under section 726 to two specific circumstances. First, the court held that a section 726 waiver only applies where a borrower fails to raise the security first rule and insist on foreclosure after an action has been initiated by the creditor. Coker, 218 Cal. App. 4th at 15 (distinguishing Scalese v. Wong, 84 Cal. App. 4th 863, (2000), on the grounds that "there was no analogous judicial process".) Second, the court held the issue of waiver of section 726's protections is irrelevant in the context of short sales because there is no need to force the sale through section 726. Id. (holding that it was unnecessary to force a sale through section 726, and therefore section 726 was not important to the analysis of this

case.) Both of these holdings have strayed from the holdings in prior decisions addressing the applicability of section 726.

Section 726 sets forth what is referred to as the "one action" or "security first" rule. That one form of action is a foreclosure action, and, under the operation of section 726, a borrower has the right to require that her creditor exhaust the security (i.e. foreclose on the property) before looking to the borrower to personally satisfy any outstanding obligations on the loan. See Wozab, 51 Cal. 3d at 997; Shin v. Superior Court, 26 Cal. App. 4th 542, 545 (1994). Further, a "secured creditor can only bring one lawsuit to enforce its security interest and collect it debt." Nat'l Enters. Inc. v. Woods, 94 Cal. App. 4th 1217, 1232 (2001).

Section 726 has two fundamental purposes: "(1) preventing a multiplicity of lawsuits against the debtor, and (2) requiring exhaustion of the security before resort to a debtor's unencumbered assets." Wozab, 51 Cal. 3d at 1005. As a result, "the operation of section 726 is in large part within the control of the debtor." Id. at 1004. "If a secured creditor brings an action on the debt before foreclosing the security, the debtor can interpose section 726 as an affirmative defense," so as to require "the creditor to exhaust the security before [it] may obtain money judgment against the debtor." Id. at 1004-05. "If the debtor does not raise the statute as an affirmative defense, the creditor's action on the debt is allowed to proceed to judgment." Id. at 1005. In such a case, however, the creditor is precluded from thereafter foreclosing on the security," because it "is deemed to have elected his remedy." Id.

Similarly, debtors may also waive the protections afforded by section 726. See id. (cited and discussed in Scalese, 84 Cal. App. at 870.) Among other ways, "a debtor can waive the protection of section 726 by failing to insist that the creditor first proceed against the security" (Wozab, 51 Cal. 3d at

1005), or by consenting to an arrangement in which the beneficiary of the trust deed relinquishes the security without retiring the note. *Roberts*, 217 Cal. App. 4th at 1398. Where the parties have waived their respective rights, "the principles enunciated by our Supreme Court were not limited to any particular type of loan, whether purchase money or a refinance." *Scalese*, 84 Cal. App. 4th at 870.

Coker's holding that a section 726 waiver only applies where a borrower fails to raise the security first rule and insist on foreclosure after an action has been initiated by the creditor is at odds with Wozab. In that case, this Court held that when a creditor improperly seized funds from the borrowers' account instead of first attempting to exhaust the security, the creditor lost its right to seek the collateral to satisfy the debt but the underlying debt was not destroyed. Wozab, 51 Cal. 3d at 1006. And according to this Court in Wozab, the effect of section 726 works independently of any judicial action taken by the creditor. Id. at 1000-02. The Court should clarify when and how the protections of section 726 can be waived without the commencement of a judicial action.

Similarly, the Court of Appeal's holding that section 726 has no bearing on whether Coker's promise to remain liable for the deficient balance is enforceable misses the fundamental premise of section 726, and, thus, diverges from other decisions. *Coker*, 218 Cal. App. 4th at 15. Specifically, section 726 is the mechanism by which a borrower can protect herself from her creditor unilaterally destroying its security. *Wozab*, 51 Cal. 3d at 1004-05. This is important to a borrower because once a creditor's security interest is destroyed, other protections that arise through these interrelated statutes, such as section 580b's protections, are jeopardized. *See, e.g., DeBerard Props., Ltd.*, 20 Cal. 4th at 663 (destruction of security will avoid the creditor from being

limited to the security under 580b). A borrower who does not wish to lose these protections can prevent a waiver from occurring by not taking actions that will destroy the security and by raising section 726 when her creditor attempts to act unilaterally. *Wozab*, 51 Cal. 3d at 1004-05; *Roberts*, 217 Cal. App. 4th at 1397-98.

It is on this point that *Roberts* and *Coker* part company. Coker disagrees with Roberts' fundamental premise that a short sale results in a knowing waiver of rights under section 726 where both parties consent to a release of the security to effectuate a sale. Compare Coker, 218 Cal. App. 4th at 15, with Roberts, 217 Cal. App. 4th at 1397-98. Coker holds that notwithstanding the borrower's consent to release the security in return for liability on the deficiency, the waiver of rights under section 726 is limited to situations where the borrower keeps the property instead of selling it short to satisfy a portion of the underlying debt. Coker, 218 Cal. App. 4th at 15. *Roberts*, on the other hand, holds that section 726 waiver applies to a short sale that occurred before the creditor commenced the action to collect the deficiency as a personal debt under section 726. Roberts, 217 Cal. App. 4th at 1398. In short, Coker holds that no waiver occurs where the borrower short sells the property as part of a transaction with the lender to satisfy a portion of the loan amount, while Roberts holds the borrower waives her rights under section 726 because she agreed and acquiesced in the release of the security so that the short sale "could take place." The Court should therefore grant review to resolve the conflict of

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