S213137

IN THE SUPREME COURT



OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT

CAROL COKER, Appellant,

SEP 2 6 2013

VS.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

J.P. MORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. for itself and as successor in interests to CHASE HOME FINANCE, LLC, Respondent,

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR SAN DIEGO COUNTY

Hon. Luis R. Vargas, Judge Court of Appeals Docket No.: D061720 Superior Court No.: 37-2011-00087958-CU-MC-CTL

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANDREW R. STILWELL (CBN: 229469)
STILWELL & ASSOCIATES, INC.
3160 Camino Del Rio South, Suite 301
San Diego, California 92108
Telephone: (858) 715-3900

Facsimile: (858) 715-3977 Counsel for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

In *Coker*, the Court of Appeal held that Cal. Code of Civil Procedure § 580b negates the lender from seeking a deficiency after short sale. This opinion is nothing more than the reaffirmation of section 580b's protections and analysis outlined in *Roseleaf Corp. v. Chierighino* (1963) 59 Cal.2d 35. The Court of Appeal also reaffirms the precedent that section 580b applies to any purchase money loan regardless of the mode of sale. Opn. at 6, *Id.* at p. 41.

Its conclusions follow all of the applicable cases within the line of anti-deficiency precedent. Its conclusion is narrow, in that it applies only to standard purchase money loans used on residential real estate. The entire opinion is consistent with over sixty years of binding authority, which make purchase money loans non-recourse. The decisions in the line of precedent are uniform, and this opinion merely restates already settled issues of law. The *Coker* opinion was correctly decided, and creates no "confusion" as to the application of section 580b.

This opinion neither conflicts with *Bank of America*, *N.A.* v. *Roberts* (2013) 27 Cal.App.4th 1386 (which did not involve either a purchase money loan or § 580b), nor the precedents established under

section 726. Review herein would therefore be wasteful of this Court's time, and would only result in duplicative precedent.

THE COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION

When the Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's dismissal with prejudice on demurrer of Plaintiff's causes of action for declaratory relief (on the grounds that anti-deficiency protections of Code of Civil Procedure § 580b apply only after a foreclosure), the Court of Appeal first analyzed the plain language of § 580b in light of its twin purposes:

(1) to "stabilize[] purchase money secured land sales [prices] by [preventing] overvaluing the property"; and (2) ensure "purchasers as a class are harmed less than they might otherwise be during a time of economic decline" because "if property values drop..., the purchaser's loss is limited to the land that he or she used as security in the transaction." Opn. at 10, quoting DeBerard Properties v. Lim (1999) 20 Cal.4th 659, 663.

The Court of Appeals made only two decisions:

1. Section 580b does not address a specific mode of sale, but instead focuses on a particular type of loan: the purchase money loan. Opn. p. 11. This is in complete conformity with this Court's prior well-established precedents in *Roseleaf* (at p. 41) and *DeBerard* (at p. 663).

2. The anti-deficiency protections under section 580b cannot be waived. Opn. p. 18. This also is in complete conformity with the precedents established in *DeBerard*. Id at p. 662.

In making these rulings the Court of Appeal found "nothing" in 580b that indicated its protections applies only after certain modes of sale. Opn. at 11. The Court of Appeal observed that courts had consistently held that "foreclosure is not a prerequisite to trigger section 580b's protections." *Id.* The Court's interpretation was consistent with the newly enacted Code of Civil Procedure § 580e, which extended anti-deficiency protections after short sale to any loan, not just purchase money loans. Opn. at 12, and with the understanding of § 580b's protections expressed in the legislative history of § 580e. *Id.*

Finally, the Court of Appeal rejected Chase's argument that the "security first" rule of Code of Civil Procedure § 726a somehow makes § 580b inapplicable after short sale, finding that its argument was "simply another variant of its argument that section 580b only applies after a foreclosure." Opn. at 18. The Court found that *Scalese v. Wong* (2000), 84 Cal.App.4th 863, on which Chase based its arguments, was inapplicable, as it involved judicial proceedings which

were not analogous (Opn. at 16-17), and involved a scenario in which the borrowers had retained their property despite the lender's release of the security, unlike Appellant Coker, who sold her property, with Chase receiving the proceeds of the sale. *Id.* at 17.

THERE IS NO REASON FOR THIS COURT TO GRANT REVIEW

There is no sound rationale for review from this Court. Review by this Court is warranted "[w]hen necessary to secure uniformity of decision or to settle an important question of law." Cal. R. Court. 8500(b)(1). Here there is no threat to the security of the uniform precedents under *Roseleaf Corp.* and *DeBerard*, and its lines of progeny. Further, there is little importance to this question of law, as it is extremely narrow in scope due to the enactment of section 580e (which eliminated deficiencies after short sales completed after July 15, 2011). *Espinoza v. Bank of America* (S.D. Cal. 2011) 823 F.Supp.2d 1053, 1059. Every short sale after the enactment date is protected from deficiency judgment or collection. *Ibid.*

///

///

The *Coker* Decision Is Correctly Decided, and Clearly Distinguishes Cases Involving Narrow Exceptions To Section 580b's Protections

Chase argues that the *Coker* decision creates "confusion" about whether §580b applies when the "creditor's security interest is destroyed" prior to sale. Pet. at 8-10. It does not. The *Coker* decision neatly distinguished those cases on which Chase relies involving the "security first" rule of § 726a.

The remaining cases Chase cites create no conflict or confusion. In Jack Erickson & Assocs. v. Hesselgesser (1996) 50 Cal. App.4th 182 the court held § 580b does not apply where parties agree to fundamental changes in the property use and loan (e.g., rebuilding and subordination of the loan to a large construction loan), because in that case, "change in use makes the original security value of the property an unreliable indicator of its value after construction improvement." id. at 188 (citations omitted). Under those circumstances, the renovating buyer, not the lender, should bear "the risk of the property not selling for its full appraised value after the renovations," Id. at 185-86, and the borrower cannot "extinguish the security interest, sell the property to a third party, and invoke section 580b to shift the loss of the ill-fated project to respondent." Id. at 189.

Petitioner's citation to the *Jack Erickson* opinion only puts a spot light on the correctness of the Court of Appeal's opinion in *Coker*. In that opinion, the Second District distinguishes the facts therein from those in *Palm v. Schilling* (1988) 199 Cal.App.3d 63, which is the exact precedent the *Deberard* Court specifically affirmed. The facts in *Jack Erickson* are strongly analogous to *Spangler v. Memel* (1972) 7 Cal.3d 603, and the *Jack Erickson* properly applied the *Spangler* exception therein.

The facts in *Coker* have no similarities to those of *Jack Erickson* or *Spangler*, and it would have been completely inappropriate for the Court of Appeals to apply the *Spangler* exception herein. *Jack Erickson* and *Coker* can and should coexist because they are addressing two very different issues based on diversely differing facts.

The portion of *Deberard* Chase cites holds only that a creditor can avoid the protections of § 580b by destroying "the purchase money nature of the transaction," – that is, by refinancing. That opinion creates no confusion here. *Goodyear v. Mack*, 159 Cal.App.3d 654, *disapproved on other grounds by DeBerard*, 20 Cal.4th at 671,

Not, as Chase indicates, "by destroying the security" (Pet. at 8). The portion of *Deberard* cited by Chase quotes *Palm v. Schilling* (1988) 199 Cal. App. 3d 63, which states that a creditor can avoid § 580b by "destroy[ing] the purchase money nature of the transaction by reconveying the deed or mortgage on the original real estate in exchange for the substitution of other security." 100 Cal.App.3d at 76 (emphasis added), *quoted* in *Deberard*, 20 Cal.4th at 663.

similarly found that § 580b did not apply where an entirely new loan was involved; *Goodyear* in fact involved an entirely new note, secured by different property, and held merely that § 580b "applies only to purchase money debts secured by the property purchased." *Id.* at 659 (citation and emphasis omitted).

The *Deberard* Court affirmed that section 580b could not be waived, except in the "narrow exception" created by *Spangler*. *Deberard Properties, supra*. at p. 664. As none of the three required elements for the *Spangler* exception are present in this case, section 580b must apply to this single purchase money residential loan. *Id* at p. 666. To this point, the Coker opinion makes no conflicts in the standing precedent.

The Court's interpretation is also in conformity with the Deberard Court's interpretation of section 580b. Deberard Properties, supra at p. 663 ("The language of section 580b is plain. A vendor is barred from obtaining a deficiency judgment against a purchaser in a purchase money secured land transaction."). Both the plain language of the statute, and the Court's interpretation make note that this particular anti-deficiency protection attaches to the type of loan, not the mode of sale. (cf Code of Civ. Proc. § 580d "sold")

through power of sale in a deed of trust."). Therefore, no conflict or confusion has been created by this opinion.

Coker Creates No Conflict With Bank of America, N.A. v. Roberts

The Coker decision does not create a conflict with Bank of America, N.A. v. Roberts (2013) 27 Cal.App.4th 1386, because Roberts does not speak to any of the issues herein. Roberts did not involve either a purchase money loan or § 580b. In *Roberts*, the appellant argued that a home equity line of credit, which the homeowner entered into after purchase, was covered by antideficiency laws after short sale The Court of Appeal held only 1) that Code of Civil Procedure 580e, which extended anti-deficiency protections after short sale to refinances and home equity lines of credit like the loan at issue in *Roberts*, did not apply retroactively; 217 Cal.App.4th at 1393-1395; and 2) that the "security first" rule in Code of Civil Procedure § 726a did not bar the lender from pursuing a deficiency, where no other deficiency protections applied, and the security was exhausted.

The analysis of § 726a in *Roberts* has no role where, as in *Coker*, an additional anti-deficiency protection applies (in this case, § 580b, which provides that Ms. Coker's purchase money loans was

non-recourse "in any event"). The reasoning of *Roberts* itself is instructive: if the homeowner's waiver of the security-first rule alone allowed the lender to seek a deficiency, despite other protections, the Court would have had no need to discuss the application of § 580e (or would have held that, in any case, § 580e did not apply because the borrower had asked the lender to waive its security interest). Instead, the Court first examined whether § 580e applied, and only then turned to the security-first rule.

The Coker Opinion Provides Sufficient Guidance For Lower Courts

Code of Civil Procedure § 580e, which took effect in 2011, bars deficiency collection after short sale for any loan. Chase argues that in "a significant percentage" of the more than 200,000 short sales which took place in California before § 580e was passed, the borrower promised to remain liable on purchase money debt. Pet. at 16. Be that as it may, the Court of Appeal's well-reasoned opinion (which reached the same conclusion as the sole other published case on the issue, *Rex v. Chase Home Fin., LLC* (C.D. Cal. 2012) 905 F.Supp.2d 111) provides adequate guidance for the parties to those loans, should

disputes arise over collection of alleged deficiencies after short sales before 2011.

There is no foundation for Chase's argument, *see* Pet. at 17, that "real estate professionals" advising their clients need guidance from the Supreme Court, rather than the Court of Appeal. The Court of Appeal's clear analysis is sufficient guidance for courts and others alike.

CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeal's plain, straightforward opinion was consistent with over sixty years of California law holding that § 580b makes purchase money mortgages non-recourse, from *Roseleaf Corp.* v. Chierighino (1963) 59 Cal.2d 35, which held that purchase money lenders may "look only to the security" and cannot obtain a personal judgment for any deficiency beyond the security, to *Spangler v. Memel* (1972) 7 Cal.3d 603, which held that no foreclosure sale was required to trigger the protections of § 580b, to *DeBerard, supra*, which held that § 580b's protections could not be waived by agreement. The Court should deny review and let the well-reasoned and correct opinion stand.